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BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION 

OF OREGON 

LC 56 

In the Matter of 

PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC 

2013 Integrated Resource Plan 

REPLY COMMENTS OF 
OREGON DEPARTMENT OF 
ENERGY 

The Oregon Department of Energy (the "department") submits these comments in 

response to other parties' opening comments on Portland General Electric's ("PGE") 2013 

Integrated Resource Plan ("IRP") and to PGE's reply comments submitted July 3, 2014. Our 

reply comments address four topics: 1) carbon dioxide (CO2) price risk analysis, 2) method 

for calculating capacity contribution, 3) energy storage, and 4) cost forecast for renewable 

resources. 

I. CO2 price risk analysis 

The department recommends the Public Utility Commission (the "Commission") find 

PGE's 2013 IRP in compliance with IRP Guideline 8. In its reply comments, PGE correctly 

explained that the CO2  trigger point scenario in its 2013 IRP resulted in a 2050 CO2 price of 

approximately $565 per ton,1  which is significantly higher than the $295 per ton price 

suggested by the department. The department acknowledges that the trigger point analysis 

indicated that a CO2  price lower than $565 per ton would not have resulted in the selection of 

a different preferred portfolio, and therefore, would not change PGE's 2013 Action Plan. 

1 PGE's reply comments, at 9. 
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2. Method for calculating capacity contribution 

The Commission should open a docket to establish the appropriate methodology for 

calculating capacity contribution of variable energy resources. The value assigned to the 

capacity contribution of variable energy resources has grown in importance. It is now used 

not only to evaluate resource portfolio options in the IRP, but also to calculate avoided cost 

rates for wind and solar qualifying facilities (see Docket No. UM 1610) and to determine the 

incremental cost of utility compliance with Oregon's Renewable Portfolio Standard (see 

Docket No. UM 1616). Decisions in both of those dockets pointed to the IRP process as the 

forum in which the methodology for determining the capacity contribution should be 

considered. While the department acknowledges and appreciates PGE's consideration of 

parties' suggestions, the department is finding that the IRP process is not the right forum for 

parties to effectively argue for changes in methodology. The IRP process is not adjudicated 

and results only in Commission acknowledgment of specific IRP action items. A separate 

proceeding is required to fully consider and establish the appropriate methodology for 

determining capacity contribution of variable energy resources. 

In its July 1, 2014, report on the "Investigation into the Effectiveness of Solar 

Programs in Oregon" the Commission stated that it "will open a formal proceeding to 

determine the resource value of solar and the extent of cost-shifting, if any, from net 

metering."2  That proceeding will necessarily address the capacity contribution of solar. It 

should also evaluate and establish the appropriate methodology for determining the capacity 

contribution of solar. Similarly, the Commission should open a docket related to capacity 

contribution of wind generation. 

2  Report available at http://www.puc.state.or.us/electric_gas/Solar%20Report%202014.pdf.  
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3. Energy storage 

The department supports Staff's comments that energy storage technologies should be 

included in some resource portfolios evaluated in the IRP, "especially in light of the poor 

decremental capacity capability brought out in the Company's flexibility study."3  We are 

pleased that PGE stated in its reply comments that it expects to "include storage resources 

such as batteries in the portfolio analysis for its next IRP"4  and we look forward to seeing 

that analysis in the 2015 IRP. 

4. Cost forecast for renewable resources 

The department supports Renewable Northwest's recommendation that PGE conduct 

cost sensitivities or a trigger point analysis that would indicate how lower renewable resource 

costs would change the preferred portfolio.5  In particular, the department recommends that 

PGE include in its next IRP futures that represent different plausible cost trends for utility-

scale solar photovoltaic generation and flow battery storage. 

Conclusion 

First, the Commission should find that PGE's CO2  risk analysis complied with IRP 

Guideline 8. Second, the Commission should open a docket to evaluate and establish the 

methodology for determining capacity contribution of variable energy resources. The solar 

resource value docket proposed by the Commission in its 2014 solar report to the Legislature 

/// 

/// 

3  Staff's opening comments, at 7. 
4  PGE's reply comments, at 4. 
5  Renewable Northwest's opening comments, at 3. 
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may serve this purpose for solar photovoltaic generation. Third, PGE should include in its 

2015 IRP one or more resource portfolios that include storage, and an analysis of how 

sensitive portfolio results are to different resource cost assumptions, particularly for solar and 

storage. 

Dated this 25th  day of July, 2014. 

Respectfully submitted, 

ELLEN ROSENBLUM 
Attorney General 
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Renee M. France, #004472 
Assistant Attorney General 
Of Attorneys for Oregon 
Department of Energy 
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